2001

Louis L. Timm, John Neiuwland, and Floyd M. Childs, et al. v. T. Lamar Dewsnap and Aletha Dewsnap, et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3, of the Utah Constitution, Section 78-2-2(3)(j) of the Utah Code Annotated (1996), and Rules 3(a) and 4(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

### ISSUES PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues have been preserved for appeal and are presented for review:

Issue #1: Did the trial court err in determining that on December 5, 1980, there was \$5,000 in costs and attorney fees due and owing on the Promissory Notes? This issue was preserved for appeal at the evidentiary hearings on attorney fees held on September 8, 2000 and November 13, 2000. (R. at 936-37.)

Issue #2: Did the trial court err in determining that on April 29, 1994, there were \$88,911.67 in costs and attorney fees secured by the Trust Deed? This issue was preserved for appeal at the evidentiary hearings on attorney fees held on September 8, 2000 and November 13, 2000. (R. at 936-37.)

Issue #3: Did the trial court err in denying Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment? This issue was preserved for appeal in Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and

Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 445-51, 452-68.)

Issue #4: Did the trial court err in granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment? This issue was preserved for appeal in Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 445-51, 452-68.)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue #1: A determination of whether \$5,000 in costs and attorney fees were owing on the Promissory Notes on December 5, 1980, involves a question of law, which this Court reviews for correction while affording no deference to the trial court. See Nova Cas. Co. v. Able Constr., Inc., 1999 UT 69, ¶6, 983 P.2d 575 ("Interpretation of the terms of a contract is a question of law. Thus, we accord the trial court's legal conclusions regarding the contract no deference and review them for correctness."

(Citations omitted)); see also Equitable Life & Cas. & Ins. Co. v. Ross, 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("In Utah, attorney fees are awarded only if authorized by statute or contract. If provided for by contract, attorney fees are awarded in accordance with the terms of that contract." (Citations omitted)). In addition, the trial court's findings of fact as to the amount of attorney fees owed by the Dewsups will be set

aside if they are "clearly erroneous." Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a).

Issue #2: A determination of whether \$88,911.67 in costs and attorney fees were secured by the Trust Deed on April 29, 1994, involves a question of law, which this Court reviews for correction while affording no deference to the trial court. See Nova Cas. Co. v. Able Constr., Inc., 1999 UT 69, ¶6, 983 P.2d 575 ("Interpretation of the terms of a contract is a question of law. Thus, we accord the trial court's legal conclusions regarding the contract no deference and review them for correctness." (Citations omitted)); see also Equitable Life & Cas. & Ins. Co. v. Ross, 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("In Utah, attorney fees are awarded only if authorized by statute or contract. If provided for by contract, attorney fees are awarded in accordance with the terms of that contract." (Citations omitted)). In addition, the trial court's findings of fact as to the amount of attorney fees secured by the Trust Deed will be set aside if they are "clearly erroneous." Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a).

Issue #3: A determination of whether the trial court erred in denying Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment involves a question of law, which this Court reviews for correction and accords no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. See Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); see also Utah Coal & Lumber Rest., Inc. v. Outdoor Endeavors Unlimited, 2001 UT 100,

¶9, 435 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 ("We review a trial court's summary judgment ruling for correctness and afford no deference to its legal conclusions." (Citations omitted)). Further, when reviewing a trial court's decision to grant or deny a party's motion for summary judgment, "[this Court] accept[s] the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the [losing] party.'" SME Indus., Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback & Assocs., 2001 UT 54, ¶9, 28 P.3d 669 (quoting Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991)).

Issue #4: A determination of whether the trial court erred in granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment involves a question of law, which this Court reviews for correction and accords no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. See Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); see also Utah Coal & Lumber Rest., Inc. v. Outdoor Endeavors Unlimited, 2001 UT 100, ¶9, 435 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 ("We review a trial court's summary judgment ruling for correctness and afford no deference to its legal conclusions." (Citations omitted)). Further, when reviewing a trial court's decision to grant or deny a party's motion for summary judgment, "[this Court] accept[s] the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the [losing] party.'" SME Indus., Inc. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback & Assocs., 2001 UT 54, ¶9, 28 P.3d 669 (quoting Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah

1991)).

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This case is before this Court for the fourth time. See Timm v. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178 (Utah 1993) (Timm I); Timm v. Dewsnap, 921 P.2d 1381 (Utah 1996) (Timm II); Timm v. Dewsnap, 1999 UT 105, 990 P.2d 942 (Timm III).

In 1978, Defendants Aletha Dewsnap and her late husband, T. LaMar Dewsnap, (collectively, the Dewsnums), borrowed \$119,000 for a two-year period to purchase a motel. The Dewsnums executed three promissory notes (Promissory Notes) totaling \$119,000. In addition, the Dewsnums executed a trust deed and amended trust deed (collectively, the Trust Deed) in favor of Plaintiffs against the Dewsnums' 160-acre farm and 56.71 acres of land in Oak City, Utah (collectively, the Trust Deed Property).<sup>1</sup> On June 1, 1980, the balance of the debt came due and was not timely paid. By December 5, 1980, all the principal and interest due on the Promissory Notes was paid in full.

On June 7, 1980, Plaintiffs advanced \$49,966.21 on the Dewsnums' behalf under an "Assignment of Contract." The Assignment of Contract obligated the Dewsnums to reimburse

---

<sup>1</sup>The Dewsnums also executed a document entitled "Assignment of Contract" assigning to Plaintiffs the Dewsnums' interest in a real estate purchase contract, and a document entitled "Security Agreement" securing the loan with certain water rights owned by the Dewsnums.

Plaintiffs for the advance. That debt, however, was not secured by the Trust Deed.

After all principal and interest due on the Promissory Notes had been paid in full, Plaintiffs continued to pursue the Dewsnums for collection of the \$49,966.21 advance. On April 29, 1994, Plaintiffs foreclosed on the Trust Deed for the \$49,966.21 (together with interest thereon in the amount of \$116,869.35), plus \$50,530.76 in attorney fees (together with interest thereon in the amount of \$5,488.30).

In Timm (III), this Court held that the \$49,966.21 debt was not secured by the Trust Deed and remanded for a determination of the costs and attorney fees due under the Promissory Notes at the time principal and interest on the Promissory Notes was paid in full (December 5, 1980) and at the time of the foreclosure sale (April 29, 1994). 1999 UT 105, ¶15, 990 P.2d 942. In so doing, this Court stated as follows:

We . . . remand this case to the trial court to determine what amount, if any, of attorney fees remained unpaid on the promissory notes when the sale was held. It was only for that amount that the foreclosure sale could have legally been held. For all amounts in excess of that amount, the sale was defective. Because any excess debt owing by Dewsnum was not secured by the trust deed property, it follows that the trial court erred in dismissing Dewsnum's counterclaim for wrongful foreclosure.

Id.

On remand, the trial court found that Plaintiffs had incurred \$5,000 in costs in attorney fees in collecting the Promissory Notes at the time the Promissory Notes were paid in full (December 5, 1980) and that \$88,911.67 in costs and attorney fees were secured by the Trust Deed at the time of the foreclosure sale (April 29, 1994). (R. at 779-84); see also Addendum A, attached hereto. After the trial court entered its findings, both the Dewsnums and Plaintiffs filed for summary judgment. (R. at 788-90; 832-48; 849-51). The Dewsnums' Motion for Summary Judgment alleged that the foreclosure sale was defective because it (1) was barred by the statute of limitations, (2) foreclosed on an unsecured debt, (3) violated the one-action rule, and (4) failed to comply with the statutory requirements for a foreclosure sale. (R. at 834-48). The trial court denied the Dewsnums' motion and granted Plaintiffs' motion. (R. at 925-27).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On June 1, 1978, the Dewsnum executed the Promissory Notes totaling \$119,000 in favor of Plaintiffs. (R. at 465.)

2. On June 1, 1978, the Dewsnums also executed the Trust Deed to secure repayment of the Promissory Notes. The Trust Deed granted Plaintiffs a security interest in the Trust Deed



Property. (R. at 464-65.)

3. As additional security for repayment of the Promissory Notes, the Dewsnums also executed an Assignment of Contract (the "Assignment of Contract") and a Security Agreement (the "Security Agreement"). The Assignment of Contract assigned to Plaintiffs a security interest in a real estate purchase contract (the "Arrow Purchase Contract") through which the Dewsnums were purchasing additional farm land (the "Arrow Property") from Arrow Investment Company. The Security Agreement granted Plaintiffs a security interest in certain "Conk irrigation water rights." (R. at 464.)

4. On June 1, 1980, the Promissory Notes came due and the Dewsnums failed to pay off the loan at that time. (R. at 464.)

5. By June 1, 1980, the Dewsnums had also failed to pay the 1979 property taxes on the Arrow Property and had failed to make the January 2, 1980 annual installment payment on the Arrow Purchase Contract. (R. at 464.)

6. The Assignment of Contract provided that Plaintiffs could make the Dewsnums' payments under the Arrow Purchase Contract and then require the Dewsnums to reimburse Plaintiffs for those payments, to wit:

[The Dewsnums] agree that in the event they are in default [under the Arrow Purchase Contract] that [Plaintiffs] may make payments due under and pursuant to [the Arrow Purchase Contract] and will be reimbursed for the same

by [the Dewsnums].

(R. at 463-64.)

7. On June 2, 1980, Plaintiffs paid on behalf of the Dewsnums the January 2, 1980 Arrow Purchase Contract payment in the amount of \$47,880.50, and paid the delinquent 1979 property taxes owing on the Arrow Property in the amount of \$2085.71 (collectively, the "\$49,966.21 advance"). (R. at 463.)

8. On September 16, 1980, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint seeking judgment against the Dewsnums, foreclosure on the Arrow Contract (under the Assignment of Contract), and foreclosure on the Conk irrigation water rights (under the Security Agreement) to recover the principal and interest on the \$119,000 loan, the \$49,966.21 advance, and Plaintiffs' costs and attorney fees. (R. at 463.)

9. On December 3 and 5, 1980, the Dewsnums paid Plaintiffs all principal and interest due on the \$119,000 loan, but the Dewsnums neither reimbursed Plaintiffs for the \$49,966.21 advance nor for any costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of the Promissory Notes or the \$49,966.21 advance. (R. at 462-63, 598-600.)

10. On March 3, 1981, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment for the \$49,966.21 advance, \$6,985 in attorney fees, and \$53.50 in costs. (R. at 462.)

11. On April 24, 1981, the trial court entered a Summary Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure (the "Judgment") awarding Plaintiffs judgment against the Dewsnums for the \$49,966.21 advance, \$6,985 in attorney fees, and \$53.50 in costs. (R. at 462.)

13. On August 29, 1988, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Default on the Trust Deed. (R. at 461.)

14. Plaintiffs did not send a copy of the Notice of Default by certified or registered mail to the Dewsnums. (R. at 461.)

15. On or about March 24, 1994, Plaintiffs scheduled a nonjudicial trustee's sale of the Trust Deed Property for April 29, 1994. (R. at 461.)

16. Plaintiffs did not send the Dewsnums a copy of the Notice of Sale by certified or registered mail. (R. at 461.)

17. Paragraph 21 of the Trust Deed provides that "[t]he undersigned Trustor [the Dewsnums] requests a copy of any notice of default and of any notice of sale hereunder be mailed to [them]." (R. at 460-61.)

18. On March 28, 1994, the Dewsnums served their First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Document Production on Plaintiffs requesting "the entire amount [Plaintiffs] claim is due and owing under the terms of the trust deed on which [Plaintiffs] are now foreclosing." (R. at 460.)

19. In Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents, Plaintiffs claimed that \$222,814.62 in debt "is due and owing under the terms of the trust deed":

\$166,835.56	-	The Judgment for \$49,966.21, plus \$116,869.35 in interest.
12,433.30	-	The Judgment for \$6,985 in costs and attorney fees, plus \$5,448.30 in interest.
<u>43,545.76</u>	-	Attorney fees and costs from March 1987 to April 21, 1994.
\$222,814.62		

(R. at 459); see also Addendum B, attached hereto.

20. On April 29, 1994, Plaintiffs foreclosed on the Trust Deed. (R. at 459.)

21. Of the \$222,814.62 of debt Plaintiffs claimed was secured by the Trust Deed, Plaintiffs bid and purchased the Trust Deed Property at the trustee's sale for \$115,000. (R. at 440; 459.)

22. In 1996, the Utah Supreme Court held that the \$49,966.21 advance was not secured by the Trust Deed:

An examination of the "Assignment of Contract" reveals that the Dewsnums were obligated to repay the lenders the \$49,966.21 paid under the Arrow contract. However, this debt was not secured by the trust deed . . .

Timm II, 921 P.2d 1381, 1387-88 (Utah 1996).

23. As to the award of \$6,985 in attorney fees and \$53.50 in costs, the Utah Supreme Court reversed and remanded three years later to determine "what amount, if any, of attorney fees remained unpaid on the promissory notes when the sale was held." Timm III, 1999 UT 105, ¶15, 990 P.2d 942.

24. The Promissory Notes provide for recovery of costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of principal and interest on the \$119,000 loan:

In case of default in the payment of any installment of principal or interest as herein stipulated, then it shall be optional with the legal holder of this note to declare the entire sum hereof due and payable; and proceedings may at once be instituted for the recovery of the same by law, with accrued interest and costs, including reasonable attorney's fees.

(R. at 469.)

25. The Assignment of Contracts does not contain an attorney fees clause. (R. at 222-23.) Nor does Utah law allow for attorney fees in the circumstances described herein. Accordingly, there is no contractual nor statutory basis for awarding Plaintiffs attorney fees for recovery of the \$49,966.21 advance or subsequent collection actions related thereto. See Equitable Life & Cas. & Ins. Co. v. Ross, 849 P.2d 1187, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) ("In Utah, attorney fees are awarded only if authorized by statute or contract. If provided for by contract,

attorney fees are awarded in accordance with the terms of that contract." (Internal citations omitted)).

26. On September 8, 2000 and November 13, 2000, the trial court held evidentiary hearings to determine the amount of costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of principal and interest on the Promissory Notes at the time the principal and interest was paid in full (December 5, 1980) and to determine the amount of costs and attorney fees secured by the Trust Deed as of the date of the foreclosure sale (April 29, 1994). (R. at 936; 937.)

27. Plaintiffs claimed they had incurred a total of \$5,000 in costs and attorney fees related to collection of both the Promissory Notes and the \$49,966.21 advance as of December 5, 1980. (R. at 937, page 8, line 18-21.)

28. As to the \$5,000 in costs and attorneys fees claimed as of December 5, 1980, Plaintiffs did not distinguish between costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of principal and interest on the Promissory Note and costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of the \$49,966.21 advance. (R. at 937, pages 19-21.)<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup>Wendell Bennett (Plaintiffs' attorney as of December 5, 1980) testified at the November 13, 2000 hearing on attorney fees that plaintiffs had not asked him to make such an allocation and that he had not made such an allocation. (R. at 937, page 21, lines 5-8.) Although Mr. Bennett initially testified that he

29. The trial court allocated the entire \$5,000 to "costs and attorney fees expended by the Plaintiffs" "to collect the sums due under the Promissory Notes." (R. at 780.)

30. From December 5, 1980 through April 29, 1994, Plaintiffs claimed that they had incurred \$83,911.67 in costs and attorney fees in pursuing collection of the \$49,966.21 advance and other claims that plaintiffs had against the Dewsnups after December 5, 1980. (R. at 781; 936, pages 60-83; 937, pages 25-31; Exhibits 1, 2 and 6.)

31. As to the \$83,911.67 in costs and attorneys fees Plaintiffs claimed were incurred after December 5, 1980, Plaintiffs did not distinguish between costs and attorney fees incurred in collection of the \$49,966.21 advance or otherwise incurred. (R. 936, page 70, lines 12-15.)<sup>3</sup>

---

didn't think he could allocate the \$5,000 in costs and attorneys fees incurred as of December 5, 1980 between those incurred in collection of the Promissory Notes and those incurred in collection of the \$49,966.21 advance, he later conceded that he "might be able to" do so. (Cf. R. at 937, page 20, line 4; R. at 937, page 21, lines 1-4.)

<sup>3</sup>Michael Hayes testified on behalf of plaintiffs, on both September 8, 2000 and November 13, 2000, regarding attorney fees and costs incurred by plaintiffs after December 5, 1980. At the September 8, 2000 hearing, Mr. Hayes testified that plaintiffs had made no allocation of the claimed \$83,911.67 in costs and attorney fees incurred after December 5, 1980 among the "various causes of action" that plaintiffs were pursuing against the Dewsnups after that date. (R. 936, page 70, lines 12-15.) On the November 18, 2000 hearing date, Mr. Hayes testified that plaintiffs still had made "no allocation on any basis." (R. 937,

32. The trial court found that the entire \$83,911.67 was secured by the Trust Deed and owed by the Dewsnums. (R. at 781.)

33. The trial court found that the amount secured by the Trust Deed at the time of April 29, 1994 trustee's sale was \$88,911.67, which equaled \$5,000 incurred prior to December 5, 1980 plus \$83,911.67 incurred between December 5, 1980 and April 29, 1994. (R. at 781.)

34. On December 20, 2000, the Dewsnums filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on their claim of wrongful foreclosure, alleging that the April 29, 1994 nonjudicial trustee's sale was defective because it was (1) barred by the statute of limitations, (2) not secured by the Trust Deed, (3) barred by the one-action rule, and (4) procedurally defective because neither a notice of default nor a notice of sale had been mailed to the Dewsnums. (R. at 832-48.)

35. On February 12, 2001, Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 849-51.)

36. On September 24, 2001, the Court entered an Order granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and denying the Dewsnums' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. at 925-27); see also Addendum C, attached hereto.

37. On April 24, 1992, the Dewsnums paid \$3,362.37 to

---

page 27, lines 13-21.)



Plaintiffs through the United States District Court for the District of Utah. (R. at 448-49.) Plaintiffs did not give the Dewsnums credit for this payment against any costs and attorney fees that may have been owing.<sup>4</sup>

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in failing to allocate the costs and attorney fees incurred by Plaintiffs. Only costs and attorney fees incurred in collecting the principal and interest due under the Promissory Notes prior to the date the principal and interest was paid in full (December 5, 1980) and costs and attorney fees incurred in conducting the trustees sale were either recoverable or secured by the Trust Deed.

The April 29, 1994 trustee's sale (1) violated the "one action" rule, as set forth under Section 78-37-1 of the Utah Code Ann., because Plaintiffs already had a judgment against the Dewsnums for the same debt foreclosed on at the trustee's sale, (2) was barred by the applicable statute of limitations, as defined under Section 78-12-23 of the Utah Code Ann., because the trustee's sale was held more than six years after the default on the Promissory Notes, and (3) foreclosed on the Trust Deed for

---

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