2001

Louis L. Timm, John Neiuwland, and Floyd M.
Childs, et al., v. T. Lamar Dewsnap and Aletha
Dewsnap, et al., : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

(3) any act to obtain possession of property of the estate or of property from the estate or to exercise control over property of the estate

By virtue of 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) and *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-12-41, the statute of limitations for Timm to pursue any foreclosure proceedings was tolled by Dewsnap's bankruptcy. *See City Corp. Mortgage, Inc. v. Hardy*, 834 P.2d 554 (Utah 1992). Therefore, as a matter of law, Dewsnap's claim on this point fails.

Dewsnap now argues, for the first time on appeal, that Timm's 1988 Notice of Default indicates that Timm was not stayed, but if there was a stay then the Notice violated the stay. Brief of Appellant at p. 34. Dewsnap correctly notes that Timm received an abandonment of the Trust Deed Property from the bankruptcy trustee in 1988. Immediately after receiving that abandonment, Timm filed a Notice of Default on the Trust Deed Property. Dewsnap argues that this Notice of Default was either void as a violation of the automatic stay or that the abandonment of the Trust Deed Property ended the tolling of the statute of limitations.

In a remarkable attempt to mislead this Court, Dewsnup fails to acknowledge her January 1989 motion for stay pending appeal, brought by her for the specific and express purpose of preventing Timm from going forward with the foreclosure sale. R. at 807, Addendum. Obviously, the Bankruptcy Court's order granting that intervening stay pending appeal prevented Timm from going forward with the foreclosure sale, further tolling the statute of limitations until 1992. R. at 811, Addendum. Therefore, Dewsnup's arguments on this point fail.

The trial court properly rejected this argument.

POINT III

DEWSNUP IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON HER CLAIM ALLEGING THAT UNSECURED DEBT WAS INCLUDED IN THE FORECLOSURE ACTION.

Dewsnup argues that she is entitled to damages based on Timm's assertion that the 1994 non-judicial sale included debt arising from the Arrow Contract advance. Dewsnup argues that she is entitled to any excess proceeds to be realized from the sale after payment to Timm of obligations arising under the Promissory Notes which were secured by the Trust Deed Property. Dewsnup acknowledges in this argument that Timm's attorneys fees and costs were part of the secured debt and that she didn't pay them. However, Dewsnup conveniently ignores that what was a \$5,000 obligation in 1980 has escalated only because

of her refusal to pay and unrelenting attempts to void Timm's Trust Deed security for the Notes.

Under *Utah Code Ann.* § 57-1-29, Dewsnup clearly cannot recover damages based on her allegation that an "unsecured debt" was included in the non-judicial sale. This section governs the disposition of proceeds after a Trustee's sale and provides, in part:

The Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the trustee's sale, first, to the costs and expenses of exercising the power of sale and of the sale, including the payment of the trustee's and attorney's fees actually incurred not to exceed the amount which may be provided for the in the trust deed, second, to payment of the obligation secured by the trust deed, and the balance, if any, to the person or persons legally entitled to the proceeds, or the trustee, in his discretion, may deposit the balance of the proceeds with the Clerk of the District Court of the County in which the sale took place

(Emphasis added.)

Interpreting this statutory provision, Utah appellate courts have held that after a non-judicial sale, any excess proceeds replace the property as security, and any remaining liens attach to the excess proceeds. *Randall v. Valley Title*, 681 P.2d 219 (Utah 1984); *In re Property in West Valley City v. Munford*, 2000 Ut. 116, 1 P.3d 1116 (Utah App. 2000). These cases clearly indicate that, under § 57-1-29, the excess proceeds, if any, arising from the non-judicial sale are to be paid to junior lienholders.

In this case, there are two distinct debts at issue: the debt on the Promissory Notes, secured by the Trust Deed Property; and the Arrow Contract advance, which this Court has determined not to be secured by the Trust Deed.

However, the District Court's summary judgment award of \$49,966.21 to Timm for the advance paid on the Arrow Contract assignment was affirmed by this Court in *Timm II*, 921 P.2d at 1387. That judgment, as a valid judgment against Dewsnup, attached as a lien to her real property, including the Trust Deed Property. The \$49,966.21 judgment arising out of the Arrow Contract advance became a junior lien (junior to the Trust Deed) on the Trust Deed Property.

Upon the non-judicial sale, Timm was entitled to the excess sale proceeds to satisfy their judgment lien. As noted in Dewsnup's Brief, Timm bid \$115,000.00 at the non-judicial sale. The trial court has found that upon the date of the non-judicial sale, \$88,911.67 was due and owing in Timm's costs and attorneys fees on the Promissory Notes. Any difference between the \$115,000.00 bid for the property, and the \$88,911.67 debt on the Notes cannot satisfy Timm's judgment lien of \$49,996 for the Arrow Contract advance. Therefore, there are no excess proceeds to be paid to Dewsnup. Dewsnup suffered no damages arising from this alleged foreclosure for an "unsecured debt." There were never any excess proceeds to be paid over to Dewsnup because of Dewsnup's own conduct and failure to pay the entire debt, thereby increasing the debt. Additionally, Dewsnup argues without any authority whatsoever that the notice of sale should have recited the amount of debt for which the non-judicial sale was to be held. In fact, Utah law contains no such requirement. *See Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-25 (1953).*

In *Southeast Timberlands v. Security National*, 469 S.E.2d 454 (Ga. App. 1996), the debtor sought to set aside a foreclosure sale. The debtor claimed that the sale should be set aside because the notice referenced a debt of \$400,000.00 when the actual debt owed was only \$362,000.00. The court refused to set aside the sale, noting that Georgia's foreclosure notice requirements did not require a listing of the amount of the debt. Therefore, a misstatement or overstatement of the debt did not render the advertisement legally defective or the sale unlawful.

In this case, Dewsnup has made no claim or showing that inclusion of the "unsecured debt" chilled bidding at the sale. In fact, such a claim cannot be made as the only party, other than Timm, who was aware of Timm's claims was Dewsnup.

Finally, we suggest that while this Court has determined that the Arrow Contract advance was not secured by the Trust Deed Property, at the time of the 1994 non-judicial sale, Timm acted in good faith and reliance on a valid judgment of the District Court in this matter. Although Dewsnup filed a motion to stay the non-judicial sale, she failed to properly bring that motion to the trial court's attention in a timely manner. To allow Dewsnup to recover damages under these circumstances would be inequitable considering Timm's good faith and its judgment lien.

POINT IV

PLAINTIFF'S NON-JUDICIAL SALE OF DEWSNUP'S PROPERTY DID NOT VIOLATE THE ONE-ACTION RULE.

Dewsnup argues that Timm's 1994 non-judicial sale violated the one-action rule because "where Plaintiff had a judgment for costs and attorneys fees, Plaintiff could not hold a non-judicial Trustee's sale on the Trust Deed Property for the same debt." However, Utah law and the one-action rule itself preclude its application to the facts of this case.

A. The One-Action Rule Does Not Apply to *Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-29*.

Dewsnup argues that because Timm's non-judicial sale violated the one-action rule, it was unlawful. However, the Utah Court of Appeals has determined that, in a case such as this one, the application of other relevant law determines the question.

In *Munford*, 1 P.3d 1116 (Utah App. 2000), the Utah appeals court reviewed a claim strikingly similar to this case. The appellant, Munford, owned property secured by a trust deed and by another junior lien. Munford defaulted on this senior loan. The trustee of the senior trust deed initiated non-judicial foreclosure proceedings. At the trustee's sale, the junior lienholder, Alliance, purchased the property. Because the amount realized from the sale left a surplus after the senior lienholder's debt was satisfied, the trustee deposited the funds into the trial court. Alliance, as a junior lienholder, applied for a release of the funds, but Munford objected. Munford claimed that she was entitled to the funds and that, because

Alliance had failed first to exhaust its security, it was precluded by the one-action rule from claiming the funds.

The Court of Appeals determined:

We need not reach the issues of whether the one-action rule applies or whether Alliance is a sold-out junior lienholder, because we agree with the trial court that this situation is governed by section 57-1-29 and by *Randall*.

* * *

In our case, the trial court correctly concluded that Alliance was legally entitled to the excess proceeds. When the Property was sold at the foreclosure sale, the res securing Alliance's lien was converted from realty to personal property--specifically, the excess proceeds. It makes no difference that Alliance bought the Property; the sale of the Property did not extinguish Alliance's lien. Rather, the proceeds replaced the Property as security for Alliance's lien. (Cite omitted.) Accordingly, we conclude the trial court correctly ruled that Alliance was "legally entitled to the proceeds," Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-29 (Supp.1999), and the trial court correctly granted Alliance's Motion for Release of Funds.

Munford, 1 P.3d at 1118-1119.

The disposition of this matter is governed by *Utah Code Ann.* § 57-1-29. Simply, Utah's one-action rule does not apply.

B. The Language of the One-Action Rule Precludes its Application.

Utah's one-action rule does not preclude collateral proceedings where a debt is secured by both a mortgage (or trust deed) on real property and personal property. *Utah Code Ann.* § 78-37-1 provides:

There can be but one action for the recovery of any debt or the enforcement of any right secured solely by mortgage upon real estate which action must be in accordance with the provisions of this chapter.

(Emphasis added.)

Dewsnup's debt on the Promissory Notes was secured by a Trust Deed, water rights and Dewsnup's assigned interest in the Arrow Contract. Additionally, there are two separate and distinct debts at issue: one on the Promissory Notes, and one arising from Timm's advance of the Arrow Contract payment. By the very terms of the statute itself, the one-action rule does not apply in this case because the Notes were not secured solely by "mortgage on real estate."

We also note that Dewsnup's arguments on this point are inconsistent with her arguments before the trial court below. R. at 919. With reference to the one-action rule, Dewsnup essentially argues that the entire transaction between Timm and Dewsnup constituted one "mortgage" on real property. However, throughout the course of this case, and now specifically in her argument relating to foreclosure for "unsecured debt," Dewsnup has successfully argued that the Arrow Contract assignment and the Trust Deed were completely separate and distinct transactions and that the advance on the Arrow Contract was not secured by the Trust Deed Property. With this in mind, Dewsnup cannot now argue that the entire transaction between Timm and Dewsnup constituted one "mortgage" on real property in order to apply the one-action rule.

C. Dewsnup's Bankruptcy Bars Application of the One-Action Rule.

The one-action rule is intended to limit a creditor's means of enforcing its debt, but not the right to recover. *City Consumer Services, Inc. v. Peters*, 815 P.2d 234, 237 (Utah 1991). Dewsnup argues that the District Court's award of summary judgment in this matter precludes Timm's non-judicial sale. However, where a bankruptcy eliminates a judgment creditor's right to collect that debt from a judgment debtor, but the debt is still secured by a lien on real property, the one-action rule should not act as a bar to collection of that debt through non-judicial sale.

In *Peters*, this Court held that the one-action rule did not bar an action by a junior lienholder where the real property securing the debt had been lost through foreclosure sale by a senior lienholder. By analogy, where a party has obtained a judgment against an individual debtor, and bankruptcy eliminates the ability to collect that judgment, the one-action rule should not bar collection of the debt by a non-judicial sale of property which secures the original debt. To hold otherwise would be contrary to the general intent of the law, which is to give the parties the benefit of their bargain. The contrary result argued for by Dewsnup would also contravene longstanding bankruptcy law which holds that while the personal debt may be discharged, judgment liens are not discharged through bankruptcy. *Dewsnup v. Timm*, 112 S.Ct. at 776.

D. Dewsnup Waived the One-Action Rule as a Cause of Action.

The original Complaint in this case alleged Timm's efforts to conduct a non-judicial sale of the Trust Deed Property beginning in 1980. Therefore, from the very outset of this case, Dewsnup has been aware that Timm was proceeding judicially to collect the debt arising from the Arrow Contract assignment and through a non-judicial sale to collect the debt on the Promissory Notes. Any claims or defenses relating to the one-action rule have been available to Dewsnup since 1980. The issue of the one-action rule raises matters outside of Timm's *prima facie* case. Therefore, under Utah law, the one-action rule was an affirmative defense to Timm's efforts. There is no evidence in the record that the one-action rule was ever timely raised as an affirmative defense to the trustee's sale or to the action. Failure to raise that defense results in a waiver of the right to do so. *Mabey v. Kay Peterson Const. Co., Inc.*, 682 P.2d 289 (Utah 1984).

POINT V

DEWSNUP HAD ACTUAL NOTICE OF THE TRUSTEE'S SALE.

Dewsnup has disingenuously argued that the trustee's sale should be set aside because she did not receive notice via certified and registered mail as the statute provides. *See Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-26(2)*. Dewsnup still makes her argument despite having received actual notice of the sale. Her actual notice is evidenced by Dewsnup's motion to stay the sale, filed a month in advance of the date of the sale. R. at 171. Indeed, she was even at the sale.

Section 57-1-26(2) expressly requires that certified, registered mail be given only when a proper request for notice has been recorded or is included in the trust deed. While Dewsnup's Trust Deed did include a request for notice, the only address given was "Deseret, Utah" with no delivery address included. Such a "general delivery" address precluded certified or registered mail. Timm's notice of the sale, including posting the properties with the sale notice and the statutorily required publication, provided actual notice and substantially complied with the statute.

This Court has upheld the validity of a trustee's sale despite minor defects in the notice of sale. *Progressive Concepts, Inc. v. First Sec. Realty Services, Inc.*, 743 P.2d 1158 (Utah 1987). The Washington appellate court has also held that defects in the notice of sale which do not affect a debtor's knowledge or ability to attend and participate are not grounds to set aside the sale. *Stewart v. Good*, 754 P.2d 150 (Wash. App. 1988).

In this case, not only did Dewsnup have actual notice of the sale well in advance, but she has completely failed to demonstrate any prejudice to her by her failure to receive notice by registered or certified mail. Therefore, while there may have been some dispute as to whether or not notices were sent, that dispute was not material. What was material and undisputed was that Dewsnup had actual notice and attempted to block the sale. The trial court's rejection of Dewsnup's argument should be affirmed.

POINT VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO TIMM.

On appeal, Dewsnup now argues that there are genuine issues of material fact preventing an award of summary judgment in this matter. However, Dewsnup failed to ever make this claim and argument to the trial court. This Court should not consider this argument.

Even if this Court considered such an argument for the first time on appeal, it is apparent that there were no genuine disputes as to any material fact preventing the summary adjudication.

A. This Court Should Not Consider Dewsnup's Improper Argument for the First Time on Appeal.

On appeal, the Court will not consider an issue not raised in the trial court except upon exceptional circumstances or plain error. *Coleman v. Stevens*, 17 P.3d 1122 (Utah 2000); *Salt Lake City v. Ohms*, 881 P.2d 844, 847 (Utah 1994). In this case, Dewsnup raised no argument of any genuine issues of material fact in the trial court. There is no showing of “plain error” or “exceptional circumstance” here. Her arguments on this point should not be considered by this Court.

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